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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT USDC SDNY
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK DOCUMENT
_____________________________________________________________ X ELECTRONICALLY FILED
DORIS SUE ALLEN, et al., : DOC #:
Plaintiffs, DATE FILED: 08/23/2016
-against- : 15 Civ. 4285 (LGS)
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION, et al., : OPINION AND ORDER
Defendants.
____________________________________________________________ X

LORNA G. SCHOFIELD District Judge:

Defendants Credit Suisse Securities (USRL, Deutsche Bank AG, Morgan Stanley,
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC and Morgan Stanléapital Services LLC (collectively, the
“Moving Defendants”) move to dismiss thec®nd Amended Class Action Complaint’s (the
“Complaint”) claims against them under FeddRales of Civil Procedw 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6)
for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and for faéuo state a claim. For the following reasons,
the motion is denied as to subject majtieisdiction but granted on the pleadings.

l. BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs sue twelve banks and theirikdtes under the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), 29 U.S.C. 88.32(a)(2) and (a)(3jor losses caused by
Defendants’ breach of fiduciary duties and participation in prohibited transactions arising from
their alleged manipulation of tHereign currency (“FX”) markets for over a decade. Plaintiffs
purport to bring this action “obehalf of the named PlaintiffERISA employee benefit Plans
[(“the Plans”)] which cover more than 400,000 ppeaticipants and benefanies, and as a class
action on behalf of participants, beneficiari@sgd named fiduciaries of all other similarly
situated Plans.” The named plaintiffs are bemafies, participants or trustees of defined

benefit, defined contribution @eath benefit plans.
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According to the Complaint, Defendants’ &mpulation affectethe pricing of hundreds
of billions of dollars of FX Transactionsficluding those involving the Plans. Defendants
manipulated the wholesale and retail FX nedéskand colluded to manipulate interbank
wholesale fixing rates such agettWM/Reuters Closing Spot RateDefendants also exchanged
confidential customer order information andding positions with each other, and routinely
coordinated trading strategiesd® and during the “fixes.”The Complaint alleges at length
several ways in which Defendants coord@ubto effectuate their manipulation.

The Complaint also alleges unilateral miscoridiycDefendants in theFX transactions.
For example, Defendant banks acting aldiegadly moved rates htyading for their own
individual accounts ahead of large customer orders. Traders and FX sales employees within
Defendant banks also allegedly added “markupspreads quoted to stomers when the bank
knew or believed that a given customer was bugingelling. Finallyat least one Defendant,
Barclays, is alleged to havecorporated a “hold” period intibs trading platform through which
it rejected customer orders in cases wherearthiket moved in the customer’s favor during the
hold period, but completed the order if tharket moved in the bank’s favor.

Plaintiffs filed suit on June 3, 2015. Ther@glaint, filed on April 6, 2016, asserts the
following five claims under ERISA againstetiMoving Defendants: (1) breach of duties of
prudence and loyalty, in violation of 29 U.S&1104; (2) engaging in ¥enterested prohibited
transactions with plan asseitsviolation of 29 U.S.C. § 1106)f1); (3) acting on behalf of a
party with interests adverse to the Plans, atation of 29 U.S.C. § 1106(b)(2); (4) causing the

Plans to engage in party-in-interest protatitransactions, in violation of 29 U.S.C.



§ 1106(a)(1) and, alternatively, (Shdwingly participating in prohiléd transactions as a “party
in interest,” in violaton of 29 U.S.C. § 1106(a)(1).

Many of the allegations in the Complaira¢k those in a separate action captiomee
Foreign Exchange Benchmark Rates Antitrust Litiga(fétOREX). 3d Am. Compl. FOREX
No. 13 Civ. 7789 (S.D.N.Y. June 3, 2016), ECF No. 619. HOREXplaintiffs assert
substantially the same joint manipulation clauvnsler the federal antitrust laws. More than
twenty actions were consolidatedR@REX but this case was not because of the unique ERISA
theory of liability.

1. STANDARD

“A district court properly disnsses an action under Fed.@v. P. 12(b)(1) for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction if the court lacks #tatutory or constitutional power to adjudicate it,
such as when . . . the plaintiff lacksnstitutional standing to bring the actiorCortland St.
Recovery Corp. v. Hellas Telecomms., S.A,R90 F.3d 411, 416-17 (2d Cir. 2015) (internal
guotation marks and citation omitted). “The ptdf bears the burden of alleging facts that
affirmatively and plausibly suggetftat it has standing to suén assessing the plaintiff’s
assertion of standing, we acceptrag all material allegations tiie complaint and construe the
complaint in favor of the complaining partyld. at 417 (internal quotatiomarks, citations and
alterations omitted).

In deciding motions to dismiss under Rab)(6), “all factual allegations in the
complaint are accepted as true and all infezsrare drawn in the plaintiff’'s favor Littlejohn v.

City of New York795 F.3d 297, 306 (2d Cir. 2015). “To survive a motion to dismiss, a

1 On July 15, 2016, Plaintiffs filed agrate Third Amended Complaint (“TAC”)
asserting claims against the non-Moving Deferglaiithis opinion does not address the TAC'’s
claims against those entities.



complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, acakptetrue, to ‘state a claim to relief that is
plausible on its face.”Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiBgll Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). “Threadbare rézitd the elements of a cause of action,
supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffide.”

1. DISCUSSION

The Court has subject matter gdiction, but the Complaint faite state colorable claims
under ERISA. The arguments concerning subjeatter jurisdiction are addressed firSiee,
e.g, Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Eng23 U.S. 83, 94 (1998) (assuming subject matter
jurisdiction to reach the meritsarries the courts beyond thetlaorized judicial action and
offends fundamental principled separation of powers"arver v. Nassau Cty. Interim Fin.
Auth, 730 F.3d 150, 156 (2d Cir. 2013) (“Normally,dases involving thessue of Article I
subject matter jurisdiction, this issu@wd have to be addressed first.”).

A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

The Moving Defendants argue that the Cdarks subject matter jisdiction over some
or all of the claims against thelpecause (1) all named Plaintiféek Article Il standing, (2) the
named Plaintiffs who are participants in defirfeenefit plans lack Article 11l standing and (3)
the named Plaintiffs lack Articlgl standing to represent other panAs explained below, these
arguments are rejected.

In Lujan, the Suprem€ourt held:

[T]he irreducible constitutional minimuef standing contains three elements.

First, the plaintiff must have suffered emjury in fact—aninvasion of a legally

protected interest which is (a) concratel particularizecand (b) actual or

imminent, not conjectural or hypothetlcSecond, there must be a causal

connection between the injuand the conduct complained of—the injury has to

be fairly traceable to the challenged awtof the defendantnd not the result of
the independent action of some third pdmjore the court. Third, it must be



likely, as opposed to merely speculatitregt the injury will be redressed by a
favorable decision.

Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992) (intergabtation marks, citations and
alterations omitted).

The Complaint pleads Atrticle 11l standing ifigaoas each named Plaintiff -- except Doris
Sue Allen and Donna S. Lucas -- is allegetidwe suffered personal losses caused by (and
traceable to) specific transactions that hepeetive Plan executed through a Defendant at a
manipulated price as follows:

Plaintiffs Dana Kellen and Hedy Anselmantpapated in the Health Corporation of
America (“HCA”) 401(k) Plan, a defined contriboti plan. Kellen and Anselman invested their
account assets in vehicles holdinternational investments, suel the Plan’s “International
Stock Fund” and the “Pre-Mix To-Go Fund.” The assets of the HCA plans were themselves
invested through the HCA Inc. Master Retireménist (the “HCA Trust”). The Complaint
alleges that “investment manag®f the [HCA Trust] arrangkfor Defendant banks to conduct
FX Transactions that involved ERISA assaitshe HCA 401(k) Plan and the HCA Retirement
Plan,” and that when Defendants executed th&sgansactions, they engaged in the alleged
unlawful practices and reaped profits atélxpense of the HCA Trust, the HCA plans and
Plaintiffs Kellen and Anselman.

Plaintiff Timothy R. Garrett similarly partigated in his employer’s 401(k) plan, and
invested in investment vehad with international holdingsThe investment managers of
Garrett’s plan also arranged for Defendaawks to conduct FX transactions. Garrett's
investments similarly suffered as a rfésdi Defendants’ allged manipulation.

Three remaining named Plaintiffs are trustegag on behalf of the International Ladies

Garment Workers Union Death Benefit Funti# “ILGWU Fund”), whose investment



managers arranged for Defendant banks to enteFiXtimansactions involving plan assets. The
Complaint does not allege that these individiralested on their own behalf, but instead are
presumed to sue on behalf of the ILGWU Funtheir roles as trustees for losses suffered by the
fund in FX transactionthe Defendants execute&ee Nationwide Life Ins. Co. v. Haddpo480

F. App’x 26, 28 (2d Cir. 2012) (summary orfi¢'Plaintiffs are ERISA Plan trusteaspt ‘Plan
participant[s] or beneficiar[ies].Thus, their allegations of juries to plans resulting from
Nationwide’s alleged breaches of fiduciariesiareo sense indirect, and we have no difficulty
concluding that plaintiffs haveroperly pleaded the requiredury-in-fact.”).

Plaintiffs Allen and Lucas are beneficiarief defined benefit plans. The Complaint
alleges that Allen is a beneficiary of the Cpikar Inc. Retirement Income Plan, which is a
defined benefit plan. The assets of the Catargnc. Retirement Income Plan were invested
through the Caterpillar Inc. Retiment Master Trust (the “Capaltar Trust”). This trust
arranged for Defendants to execute FX tratisas involving Plan ssets, and the Complaint
alleges that through the manipulative conduct atldgefendants profited at the expense of the
Caterpillar Trust and Plan. Lucesa beneficiary of, and reiges a regular pension payment
through, the Bridgestone Americ8alaried Employees Retirement Plan, which is also a defined
benefit plan whose assets were invested throlugiBridgestone Americas, Inc. Master Pension
Trust. The Complaint alleges that during thesslperiod the Bridgesternrust arranged with
Defendant banks to conduct FX transactions WItn assets, and thatfeedants reaped profits
at the Bridgestone Plan’s expense. The Comipthias not allege thattker Allen or Lucas had
personal investments that were affected by Badats’ alleged conducts explained below,
Allen and Lucas do not have constitutional stagdb sue for their individual losses, but may

sue in a derivative capacity.



The named Plaintiffs’ injuries would bedressed by any decision thiis Court holding
that they were entitled to either damagesaquitable relief as a relswf Defendants’ having
violated the law.

The Moving Defendants challenge (1) whether any injury in fact, as pleaded, is traceable
to the alleged misconduct, and {@)ether the Plaintiffs who allegejury based on participation
in defined benefit plans plausibbyead injury in fact. These argemis are addressed in turn.

1. Injury In Fact and Traceability

The Moving Defendants argue that Plaintiffs faikallege any injury that is traceable to
Defendants’ challenged activitieecause “[a]lthough Plaintiffs idéfy certain FX trades made
by the Plans, . . . they do not identify any spetransaction that waaffected by Non-Settling
Defendants’ alleged conduct.” Accordingth@ Moving Defendants, “Plaintiffs’ failure to
allege any connection between the PlanstféXisactions and contemporaneous episodes of
purported manipulation ‘goes directly constitutional standing and idd# to Plaintiffs’ claim.”

In theFOREXcase described above, based on the sdlegations of manipulation of the
FX markets, this Court rejected a similaattbnge to plaintiffs’ Article Il standingFOREX 74
F Supp. 3d 581, 595 (S.D.N.Y. 2015). HOREX the Court held that the complaint sufficiently
alleged injury in fact because “any particular s&ction that a particular Plaintiff entered into
with a particular Defendant onday that the Fix was manipulatedthat Plaintiff's detriment
would sufficiently demonstrate injuig fact as to that Plaintiff.”ld.

The Complaint in this actioalleges the same decade-long conspiracy by Defendants to
manipulate the FX markets, affecting the pricof hundreds of billions of dollars of FX

transactions. The Complaint also identifiesrenthan 500 individual FX transactions that



Defendants executed on behalf of the Plansth&extent the Moving Defendants argue that the
Complaint is required to allege how the pneas manipulated for each individual transaction,
their argument “ultimately amounts to a demandsfeecifics that are not required, and that
Plaintiffs could not be @sonably expected to knoat, the pleading stageltd. The Moving
Defendants’ traceability argumieis therefore rejected.
2. Defined Benefits Plans

The Moving Defendants next argue that certain claims asserted by two of the named
Plaintiffs -- Allen and Lucas -- must be dissed because the Complaint does not plausibly
plead that participants in defined benefit planered concrete or individualized harms because
any shortfall in benefits must be covered by FHans’ sponsors. As explained below, this
argument is rejected. Although these Plaintiffsxdbhave Article 11l shinding to sue in their
individual capacities, they have constitutionahsiiag to sue on behalf of their respective Plans.

In contrast to defined conltrution plans, “[d]efined benifplans promise participants a
specified, periodic benefit at retirementlthdugh the investment pool from which those
benefits are drawn may be funded in varioags, the employer typically bears the risk
associated with operating the plamd must coveainy shortfall.” Milgram v. Orthopedic Assocs.
Defined Contribution Pension Plaf66 F.3d 68, 76 (2d Cir. 2011). “Given the employer’s
obligation to make up any shortfaho plan member has a clatmany particular asset that
composes a part of the plan’s general asset dastead, members have a right to a certain
defined level of benefits, knawas ‘accrued benefits.’Hughes Aircraft Co. v. Jacobsob25
U.S. 432, 440 (1999).

Allen and Lucas have not pleaded Articledtanding to assert individual claims for

personal losses arising out of losses to defineéfiteplans. The Complaint asserts that Allen



and Lucas suffered constitutional injury via their defined benefit plans because Defendants’
actions caused “the Plans and their particippiojsuffer[] hundreds omillions of dollars of
losses,” and “these losses increatbedrisk of non-payment of fututeenefits to participants and
beneficiaries.” These allegations are generalcamdlusory. There are no separate allegations
that either Allen or Lucas was affected by Defents’ alleged conduct, trat any particular
defined benefit plan was at increased risk of being unable, or was actually unable, to fulfill its
obligations to its beneficiariesSee generally Tavares v. UBS /32 F. App’'x 27 (2d Cir.

2015) (summary orde(YAn ERISA plan participant lacksatding to sue for ERISA violations
that cause injury to a plan but not individaali injury to the plan participant.”). The
Complaint’s allegations that Allen and Lucas hauéfered or will suffer injuries arising from
their defined benefit plans’ $ses are also speculativdee David v. Alphirv04 F.3d 327, 338
(4th Cir. 2013) (“[T]he risk that Appellants’ pension benefits will at some point in the future be
adversely affected as a resulttioé present alleged ERISA vidlats is too speculative to give
rise to Article 11l standing.”)see generallfletcher v. Convergex GrpNo. 13 Civ. 9150, 2016
WL 690889, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 17, 2016) (no constitutional standing fticipant in defined
benefit plan where “Defendantsvercharges increased the pgagteficiency by less than one
hundred-thousandth of one percent”).

Plaintiffs clarify in their opposition brief &t Allen and Lucas are asserting claims on
behalf oftheir defined benefit plans. The Complatieges that their respective Plans invested
through trusts that arranged with Defendantsotoduct FX transactionsith Plan assets, and
that Defendants profited at their expenBeirsuant to the Send Circuit’s decision itead
Start, Allen and Lucas have Articld standing to the extent theare asserting claims in a

derivative capacityLong Island Head Start Child Dev. Servs., mcEcon. Opportunity



Comm’n of Nassau Cty., In¢10 F.3d 57 (2d Cir. 2013). hhead Startthe court held in
relevant part that a&ss of plan participants had bothaase of action under the statute and
constitutional standing to assert ERISA claimaiagt plan administrators for failing to ensure
that the plan had sufficient assets tséa a prior judgment against the plahl. at 61, 65—-67.

After analyzing ERISA 88 502(a)(2) and 409, Hhead Startcourt held that appellees
had a cause of action under the statideat 65—-67. The court theaddressed appellants’
separate argument that the ptdfs/appellees lacked constitatial standing. Theourt rejected
this argument as follows:

We also reject the Administrators’garment that LIHS and the Class lack

constitutional standing because they hawesuffered an injury-in-fact. As

discussed, LIHS and the Class have asséndclaims in a derivative capacity,

to recover for injuries to the Plan caused by the Administrators’ breach of their

fiduciary duties. This is injury-in-facufficient for constutional standing.
Id. at 67 n.5 (internal citation tioujan omitted).

The Moving Defendants argue that thead Startcourt’s cursory treatment of the Article
Il issue did not resolve what tt&econd Circuit had previouslyrteed the “difficult issues” of
representational standingent. States Se. & Sw. Areas Hied& Welfare Fund v. Merck-Medco
Managed Care, L.L.C504 F.3d 229, 243 n.3 (2d Cir. 2007). They also argudHnad Starts
holding, if applied beyond that case’s specificgawtould be “in direct contradiction with the
long line of authority establisdehroughout the Circuits prealing representational standing by
plan participants based on alleged injury to their Plans alone.” These arguments are
unpersuasive as the Second Circuit’s holdingéad Staris neither ambiguous nor dictum.

Absent clear authority from either the Supreme Court or a subsequent Second Circuit panel,

Head Start holding controls -- i.e., plan particip@rhave constitutional standing to sue in a

10



derivative capacity for injurie® a Plan. The Court therefdnas subject matter jurisdiction over
Allen’s and Lucas’s claims.
3. Standing to Represent Other Plans

Finally, the Moving Defendants argihat Plaintiffs lack Article Il standing to represent
other plans. Specifically, thdoving Defendants claim thattfé challenged conduct does not
implicate ‘the same set of concerns’ across the nhellBfans that Plaintiffs seek to represent.”
Moving Defs.’ Br. at 9 (quotingret. Bd. of the Policemen’s Antyuand Benefit Fund v. Bank of
N.Y. Mellon 775 F.3d 154, 161-63 (2d Cir. 2014)). As explained above, the Court has subject
matter jurisdiction over the claims of the nameaiilffs and therefore may reach the merits of
those claims. Because the claims of the namaiatiffs are dismissed on the merits below, this
Opinion does not reach whether themed Plaintiffs have Article Ill standing to represent other,
unnamed ERISA plarfs.

For the foregoing reasons, the Moving Defartdamotion to dismiss based on lack of
subject matter jurisdiction is denied.

B. Whether the Moving Defendants Are ERISA Fiduciariesor Partiesin Interest

The Complaint does not adequately pldzat the Moving Defendants were ERISA
fiduciaries; it also does not state a coloraitéem based on the theory that Moving Defendants
were “parties in interest.” As a result, Countisrough V of the Complaint are dismissed.

1. ERISA Fiduciaries

Counts | through IV of the Complaint rebyr Plaintiffs’ contention that the Moving

Defendants were ERISA “fiduciaries.” Courdlleges that “Defendasibreached their ERISA

fiduciary duties of prudence and loyalty, 29 WLS§ 1104(a)(1)(A), (B), when executing FX

2 For the same reason, the Opinion doesddtess the Moving Defendants’ argument that
the ERISA statute does not permit Plaintiff@gsert claims on behalf of other plans.
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trades with Plan assets.” By its own ter8 1104 governs only the conduct of persons or
entities who are ERISA fiduciariesSimilarly, the Complaintsserts as its second, third and
fourth counts claims under § 11@@hich lists “prohibited transacins” for ERISA fiduciaries.

29 U.S.C § 1106. Because the Moving Defendants m&rer named as fiduciaries in any of the
Plans and did not exercise fiduciary functions wébpect to the challenged transactions, they
are not subject to ERISA lialiyi under either 29 U.S.C. § 1104 or 8§ 1106. Counts I through IV
are therefore dismissed.

In ERISA actions asserting claims for breatliduciary duty, “thethreshold question is
not whether the actions of some person empldgeprovide services under a plan adversely
affected a plan beneficiary’sterest, but whether that personsagcting as a fiduciary (that is,
was performing a fiduciary function) wherkiag the action subjet¢b complaint.” Pegram v.
Herdrich, 530 U.S. 211, 226 (2000).

ERISA fiduciaries are either named under the Plan or exercise fiduciary fundtaes.
Citigroup ERISA Litig.104 F. Supp. 3d 599, 613 (S.D.N.Y215). The Complaint does not
allege that any Defendant was ever namecdhynRlan. The parties’ sjpute concerns whether
Defendants were fiduciaries because offtimetions they performed. Under ERISA,

a person is a fiduciary with respect tplan to the extent (i) he exercises any

discretionary authority or discretionacgntrol respecting management of such

plan or exercises any autltgror control respecting nmagement or disposition of

its assets, (ii) he rendersrestment advice for a fee other compensation, direct

or indirect, with respect to any moneysatiner property of such plan, or has any

authority or responsibility to do so, oiiYihe has any discretionary authority or

discretionary responsibility in thedministration of such plan.
29 U.S.C. 8§ 1002(21)(Axee also Mertens v. Hewitt Asse&08 U.S. 248, 262 (1993) (“ERISA

... defines ‘fiduciary’ not in tergof formal trusteeship, but fanctionalterms of control and

authority over the plan . . . .").

12



The Complaint’s allegations concerning Defants’ fiduciary stats are no more than
“[tlhreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of adigported by mere conclusory
statements,” that are insufficient to survive motion to dismigisal, 556 U.S. at 678. For
example, the Complaint alleges that “Defenddrad fiduciary duties under ERISA because they
exercised discretionary authority control over managementthie ERISA Plans, or exercised
authority or control with respett the disposition of Plan assgtisut does not allege any facts
concerning such authority or control. keatl, the Complaint merely states that “many
investment managers of ERISA Plan asaetanged with Defendant banks to conduct FX
Transactions with ERISA assets.”

The Complaint also alleges that “[sjJomenks, including some of the Defendant banks,
were custodians of the Plans’ assets,” busdus identify which Defendants, nor describe how
any Defendant served as a “adiin” for any Plan. Based ¢ime allegations that other, non-
Defendant, investment managers managed #mesPinvestments, this vague allegation is
insufficient to plead that Defielants exercised the requisitsatietion and conbl over plan
assets to be ERMSfiduciaries.

What the Complaint factually describesghat Defendants acted only as brokers or
counterparties to FX transactions that thenBlentered into througheir own (and separate)

investment managers. For example, the Complaint alleges that the Plans’ “[ijnvestment
managers authorized FX Transactions with Rlssets when their investment strategies for a
Plan required the exchange of one currencyafmther.” After theséX transactions were
authorized, the Plans’ investment managersatayed with Defendant banks” to conduct the FX

transactions for the Plans. Although not spealfy in the ERISA context, courts have

consistently refused to impose fiduciary duti@sarm’s-length counterparties under the common

13



law. See, e.glntegra FX3X Fund, L.P. v. Deutsche Bank, Al®. 14 Civ. 8400, 2016 WL
1169514, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 22, 2016) (“[O]rdiyaarms-length commercial arrangements
between sophisticated parties involve the ‘relatiboonfidence or trust sufficient’ to generate
fiduciary relationships only itextraordinary circumstances.”B & M Linen Corp. v.
Kanneiesser, USA, Cor®79 F. Supp. 2d 474, 479 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (dismissing common law
breach of fiduciary duty claim whepaintiff “fail[ed] to explain . . whythe parties’

relationship is plausibly differe from a typical arm’s lengtbommercial transaction between a
buyer and a seller”).

Plaintiffs argue that Defendants were “ftinnal ERISA fiduciaries” because they acted
as “service providers” that exercised discretmpay themselves out of plan assets and
leveraged plan assets for personal gain. Asaaxg@dl below, the Complaint fails to allege that
Defendants had even “functionaliscretionary control, authorityr responsibility over the
Plans, and therefore were not ERISA fiduies, no matter how broadly construetke Blatt v.
Marshall & Lassman812 F.2d 810, 812 (2d Cir. 1987) (“Congress intended the term [fiduciary]
to be broadly construed. ‘[T]hdefinition includes persons wimave authority and responsibility
with respect to the matter in question, meligss of their formal title.”).

In F.H. Krear & Co. v. Nineteen Named Trustethe® Second Circuit described how an
administrative service provider may becomee&iSA fiduciary. 810 F.2d 1250 (2d Cir. 1987).
“When a person who has no relationship to an BRifan is negotiating aontract with that
plan, he has no authority overresponsibility to the plan andgsumably is unable to exercise
any control over the trusteegdsion whether or not, and on athierms, to enter into an
agreement with him.1d. at 1259. However, “after a persorshemtered into aagreement with

an ERISA-covered plan, the agreement may gisach control over factors that determine the

14



actual amount of its compensation that the ggethereby becomes an ERISA fiduciary with
respect to that compensationd.

The Complaint’s allegations fall short of theeel of control descbied in the cases that
Plaintiffs cite for the propositiothat “service providers” may be considered ERISA fiduciaries.
In F.H. Krear, the Second Circuit found that Krear was an ERISA fiduciary when several funds
entered into three-year contracts with “Krear tanish . . . all administrate functions related to
the collection of monies due” the funds, and each contract paradl for Krear to be able to
“receive . . . a specified percentage ofc¢b#ections it made on behalf of the Funtil” at 1254—
55.

In United Teamster Fundhe court held that a third-party plan administrator,
MagnaCare, was an ERISA fiduciary when iagfed health benefilans fees without
disclosing them.United Teamster Fund v. Local 522 Welfare Fund of N.Y. and39.F. Supp.
3d 461, 469-71 (S.D.N.Y. 2014). Specdlly, the administrator inited Teamster Fundias
alleged to have “pocket[ed] the savings freanegotiated rates wigbroviders,” and thereby
“unilaterally increased its own feesltl. at 470. The parties’ relationshiplimited Teamster
Fundwas governed by various service agreementyeih “MagnaCare had a duty to adjudicate
claims with the care, skill, prudence and diligetitat a competent professional administrator,
consistent with industry standards, would eis& with regard to an employee benefit fund
subject to ERISA.”Id. at 467 (internal quotation marks omitted).

In contrast, the Complaint leedoes not allege eitherathDefendants served as plan
administrators or had long-term contracts veitty Plan. Rather, the Complaint alleges that
Defendants held a far more limited role (of axtéwy FX transactions for the Plans), and that

Defendants influenced the fees or compensatiey received on a transaction-by-transaction

15



basis. SeeCompl. § 258 (alleging that Defendamtsanipulative conduct allowed them to
manipulate “the rates at which they exedu&X Transactions for ERISA Plans”).

The Complaint also does not allege thatBhans ever granted Defendants any agreed-to
control over their compensation. Plaintiffssdebe the following “typical fact pattern”:
“Defendant bank A enters into &X transaction with an ERISA @h that is tied to a benchmark
rate. Defendant bank A enters into the transadtiowing full well that itis participating in an
ongoing conspiracy with defendant banks Ba@j D to manipulate benchmark FX rates.”
Contrary to Plaintiffs’ suggdi®n that such an arrangemembuld make bank A an ERISA
fiduciary, this scenario describ@a counterparty relationship betn that bank and the plan to
transact at a specified rate, and the plamioagranted the bank angmtrol or authority over
that rate.See generally United Teamster Fu@ F. Supp. 3d at 470 (“[C]ontractors that
receive contractually-established commissmtes are not fiduciaries as to their
compensation.”).

Because the Complaint does not allege adicia of control over Plan assets or an
ongoing contractual relationshiptix@en any Plan and any Defentian which the Defendant
bank unilaterally decided when ¢mter into FX transactions aatiwhat prices, the Complaint
does not adequately plead Defendaatithority over Plan assetSee Sirna v. Prudential Secs.,
Inc., 964 F. Supp. 147, 150 (S.D.N.Y. 1997) (analy#tid. Krear and noting that “[t]he
touchstone [for administrative sé® provider liability] was a transf of control over the plan or
its assets from the plan to the provider whickuld enable the provider to manipulate the plan or

its assets to its own benefit”).
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2. Defendants’ Liability a®arties in Interest

Count V of the Complaint is based on the Deff@nt banks’ alleged status as “parties in
interest,” and is pleaded in th#ernative to Gunts | through IV “to thextent any Defendant is
found not to be an ERISA fiduciary with respectny of the conduct complained of above.”
Count V asserts claims for relief tlaTdERISA § 502(a)(3), 29 U.S.C.1832(a)(3), for violations
of ERISA 8§ 406(a)(1), 29 U.S.@.1106(a)(1)(A) and (D) (both pvisions hereafter referenced
in text with their ERISA section numbers) sled on Defendants’ havirignowingly participated
as a party in interest inginibited transactions.”

Section 406(a) governs “transactions betwgan[s] and part[ies] in interest” and
provides:

A fiduciary with respect to a plan dhaot cause the plan to engage in a

transactionif he knows or should knotlvat such transacin constitutes a direct

or indirect . . . (A) sale or exchange,leasing, of any property between the plan

and a party in interest; . . . [dip) transfer to, or use by @or the benefit of a

party in interestof any assets of the plan.
29 U.S.C. §1106(a)(1)(A), (D) fephases added). The stattiierefore requires: (1) a
transaction between a fiduciamgdha party in interest and (2fiduciary’s actual or constructive
knowledge of the prohibited transaction.

Section 502(a)(3) provides that

[a] civil action may be brought . . . by arpaipant, beneficiary, or fiduciary (A)

to enjoin any act or practice which violagasy provision of this subchapter or the

terms of the plan, or (B) to obtain othg@paopriate equitable lief (i) to redress

such violations or (ii) to enforce anygsision of this subchapter or the terms of

the plan.
29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3).

The Supreme Court has held that equitatdens based on § 406(a) violations may be

brought against non-fiduciasainder ERISA 8 502(a)(3Harris Tr. and Sav. Bank v. Salomon

17



Smith Barney In¢530 U.S. 238, 245-51 (200(H)olding that a civ action may be brought
against “an ‘other person,” who ‘knowingly partiates’ in a fiduciary’s lation” of § 406(a)).
In Harris, the Supreme Court explainedtta plaintiff must prove bbf the elements of a § 406
claim in order to prevail, including that theaplfiduciary had “actual aronstructive knowledge
of the facts” that give ris® the 8 406(a) violation:

[T]he transferee [of ill-gottetrust assets, i.e., the nomHiiciary and here allegedly

the Defendants] must be demonstratetiave had actual or constructive

knowledge of the circumstances that remedl the transaction unlawful. Those

circumstances, in turmvolve a showing that th@an fiduciary, with actual or

constructive knowledge of the factgisgying the elements of a § 406(a)

transaction, caused the plarettggage in the transaction.

Id. at 251;accord Laborers’ Pension Fund v. ArnpNo. 00 C 4113, 2001 WL 197634, at *8

(N.D. lll. Feb. 27, 2001) (“To state a claim undet@(a) . . . , Plaintiffsnust allege not only

that the [non-fiduciary] defendarksew that they redeed excessive compensation, but also that

the plan fiduciaries knew or should have kndhait the payment tendered to Defendants was
unreasonable.”).

Count V fails to state a claim and is dissed because the Complaint does not allege
how any non-Defendant Plan fiduciary caused its fla@ngage in a traaction with actual or

constructive knowledge that it waliViolate 8 406 during the clapsriod. To the contrary, the

Complaint alleges that no such fiduciary would have been able to know of the facts underlying a

§ 406 violation because
virtually none of the facts that Plaifi§ needed to draft a complaint was known
until the Bloomberg article was published on June 11, 2013, and much of the
conduct was unknown until Defendants and regulators acknowledged the
investigations that eventuallgd to billions of dollarsn fines. And no amount of
reasonable diligence would have allowed Plaintiffs to learn those facts sooner.
Compl. § 275. If, as the Complaint allegeans overcompensated Defendants -- and

therefore transferred Plan assets “for theebié of a party in iterest,” 29 U.S.C.
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8 1106(a)(1)(D) -- because “[t]terms of [the] FX Transacins were less favorable to
the Plans than terms that would have genelsdn available in comparable arm’s-length
FX Transactions between unrelated jggt there is no indication that any non-
Defendant Plan fiduciary calithave known this. The sarfets that the Complaint
alleges were unavailable Raintiffs before 2013 were equally unavailable to any non-
Defendant plan fiduciary duriripe relevant period.

Instead of actual knowledge by a non-Defendant Plan fiduciary, Plaintiffs argue that
“eachfiduciary bankand each Defendant had constructive knowledge that the FX Rate Rigging
Schemes involved ERISA assets.” This argunagain relies on Plaiifits’ contention that
Defendants were Plan fiduciaries. As held above, the Complaint doadauptately plead that
any Defendant bank was an ERISA fiduciary for any Plan.

The failure to allege a Plan fiduciarytivactual or constructive knowledge of a § 406
violation is fatal taPlaintiffs’ claim. See Harris 530 U.S. at 251 (liability of a transferee
dependent on a “showing that thlan fiduciary, with actual or constructive knowledge of the
facts satisfying the elements of a § 406(aps$action, caused the planengage in the
transaction”).

Because the Complaint fails to plead a catbde violation of ERSA § 406 by any Plan

fiduciary, the claims against the Moving Defentiaas parties in tarest are dismisséd.

3 Count V is dismissed for the reasoretesti above, and the Court does not reach the
Moving Defendants’ alternative guments that the party-in-intst claims should be dismissed
because certain “foreign exchange transactiorg;daa a bank or broker-dealer . .. and a plan”
are exempted from the provision governing prabitransactions, 29 U.S.C. § 1108(b)(18), or
because Plaintiffs impermissibly seek modeynages where ERISA § 502(a)(3), 29 U.S.C.
1132(a)(3)(B), limits recovery in &se cases to “appropriate eqghiearelief.” As each of the
claims against the Moving Defendants are dss&dl, the Opinion also does not reach whether
Plaintiffs’ pre-June 3, 2009, claims aretimely under ERISA’s limitations period.
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V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Moving Defants’ Rule 12(b)(6) motion is GRANTED
in its entirety and the Complaint’s claims agsithose entities are dismissed. The Clerk of
Court is directed to close the motion at Dkt. No. 196.

Dated: August 23, 2016
New York, New York

7//44%

Lom(A G. SCHOFIEL6
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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